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Occupational Safety and Health Admin., Labor § 1977.3 

1977.6 Unprotected activities distinguished. 

SPECIFIC PROTECTIONS 

1977.9 Complaints under or related to the 
Act. 

1977.10 Proceedings under or related to the 
Act. 

1977.11 Testimony. 
1977.12 Exercise of any right afforded by the 

Act. 

PROCEDURES 

1977.15 Filing of complaint for discrimina-
tion. 

1977.16 Notification of Secretary of Labor’s 
determination. 

1977.17 Withdrawal of complaint. 
1977.18 Arbitration or other agency pro-

ceedings. 

SOME SPECIFIC SUBJECTS 

1977.22 Employee refusal to comply with 
safety rules. 

1977.23 State plans. 

AUTHORITY: Secs. 8, 11, Occupational Safe-
ty and Health Act of 1970 (29 U.S.C. 657, 660); 
Secretary of Labor’s Order No. 12–71 (36 FR 
8754). 

SOURCE: 38 FR 2681, Jan. 29, 1973, unless 
otherwise noted. 

GENERAL 

§ 1977.1 Introductory statement. 
(a) The Occupational Safety and 

Health Act of 1970 (29 U.S.C. 651, et 
seq.), hereinafter referred to as the Act, 
is a Federal statute of general applica-
tion designed to regulate employment 
conditions relating to occupational 
safety and health and to achieve safer 
and healthier workplaces throughout 
the Nation. By terms of the Act, every 
person engaged in a business affecting 
commerce who has employees is re-
quired to furnish each of his employees 
employment and a place of employ-
ment free from recognized hazards that 
are causing or likely to cause death or 
serious physical harm, and, further, to 
comply with occupational safety and 
health standards promulgated under 
the Act. See part 1975 of this chapter 
concerning coverage of the Act. 

(b) The Act provides, among other 
things, for the adoption of occupa-
tional safety and health standards, re-
search and development activities, in-
spections and investigations of work-
places, and recordkeeping require-
ments. Enforcement procedures initi-

ated by the Department of Labor, re-
view proceedings before an independent 
quasi-judicial agency (the Occupa-
tional Safety and Health Review Com-
mission), and express judicial review 
are provided by the Act. In addition, 
States which desire to assume respon-
sibility for development and enforce-
ment of standards which are at least as 
effective as the Federal standards pub-
lished in this chapter may submit 
plans for such development and en-
forcement of the Secretary of Labor. 

(c) Employees and representatives of 
employees are afforded a wide range of 
substantive and procedural rights 
under the Act. Moreover, effective im-
plementation of the Act and achieve-
ment of its goals depend in large part 
upon the active but orderly participa-
tion of employees, individually and 
through their representatives, at every 
level of safety and health activity. 

(d) This part deals essentially with 
the rights of employees afforded under 
section 11(c) of the Act. Section 11(c) of 
the Act prohibits reprisals, in any 
form, against employees who exercise 
rights under the Act. 

§ 1977.2 Purpose of this part. 
The purpose of this part is to make 

available in one place interpretations 
of the various provisions of section 
11(c) of the Act which will guide the 
Secretary of Labor in the performance 
of his duties thereunder unless and 
until otherwise directed by authori-
tative decisions of the courts, or con-
cluding, upon reexamination of an in-
terpretation, that it is incorrect. 

§ 1977.3 General requirements of sec-
tion 11(c) of the Act. 

Section 11(c) provides in general that 
no person shall discharge or in any 
manner discriminate against any em-
ployee because the employee has: 

(a) Filed any complaint under or re-
lated to the Act; 

(b) Instituted or caused to be insti-
tuted any proceeding under or related 
to the Act; 

(c) Testified or is about to testify in 
any proceeding under the Act or re-
lated to the Act; or 

(d) Exercised on his own behalf or on 
behalf of others any right afforded by 
the Act. 
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29 CFR Ch. XVII (7–1–14 Edition) § 1977.4 

Any employee who believes that he has 
been discriminated against in violation 
of section 11(c) of the Act may, within 
30 days after such violation occurs, 
lodge a complaint with the Secretary 
of Labor alleging such violation. The 
Secretary shall then cause appropriate 
investigation to be made. If, as a result 
of such investigation, the Secretary de-
termines that the provisions of section 
11(c) have been violated civil action 
may be instituted in any appropriate 
United States district court, to re-
strain violations of section 11(c)(1) and 
to obtain other appropriate relief, in-
cluding rehiring or reinstatement of 
the employee to his former position 
with back pay. Section 11(c) further 
provides for notification of complain-
ants by the Secretary of determina-
tions made pursuant to their com-
plaints. 

§ 1977.4 Persons prohibited from dis-
criminating. 

Section 11(c) specifically states that 
‘‘no person shall discharge or in any 
manner discriminate against any em-
ployee’’ because the employee has exer-
cised rights under the Act. Section 3(4) 
of the Act defines ‘‘person’’ as ‘‘one or 
more individuals, partnerships, asso-
ciations, corporations, business trusts, 
legal representatives, or any group of 
persons.’’ Consequently, the prohibi-
tions of section 11(c) are not limited to 
actions taken by employers against 
their own employees. A person may be 
chargeable with discriminatory action 
against an employee of another person. 
Section 11(c) would extend to such en-
tities as organizations representing 
employees for collective bargaining 
purposes, employment agencies, or any 
other person in a position to discrimi-
nate against an employee. See, Meek v. 
United States, 136 F. 2d 679 (6th Cir., 
1943); Bowe v. Judson C. Burns, 137 F. 2d 
37 (3rd Cir., 1943). 

§ 1977.5 Persons protected by section 
11(c). 

(a) All employees are afforded the 
full protection of section 11(c). For pur-
poses of the Act, an employee is de-
fined as ‘‘an employee of an employer 
who is employed in a business of his 
employer which affects commerce.’’ 
The Act does not define the term ‘‘em-

ploy.’’ However, the broad remedial na-
ture of this legislation demonstrates a 
clear congressional intent that the ex-
istence of an employment relationship, 
for purposes of section 11(c), is to be 
based upon economic realities rather 
than upon common law doctrines and 
concepts. See, U.S. v. Silk, 331 U.S. 704 
(1947); Rutherford Food Corporation v. 
McComb, 331 U.S. 722 (1947). 

(b) For purposes of section 11(c), even 
an applicant for employment could be 
considered an employee. See, NLRB v. 
Lamar Creamery, 246 F. 2d 8 (5th Cir., 
1957). Further, because section 11(c) 
speaks in terms of any employee, it is 
also clear that the employee need not 
be an employee of the discriminator. 
The principal consideration would be 
whether the person alleging discrimi-
nation was an ‘‘employee’’ at the time 
of engaging in protected activity. 

(c) In view of the definitions of ‘‘em-
ployer’’ and ‘‘employee’’ contained in 
the Act, employees of a State or polit-
ical subdivision thereof would not ordi-
narily be within the contemplated cov-
erage of section 11(c). 

§ 1977.6 Unprotected activities distin-
guished. 

(a) Actions taken by an employer, or 
others, which adversely affect an em-
ployee may be predicated upon non-
discriminatory grounds. The proscrip-
tions of section 11(c) apply when the 
adverse action occurs because the em-
ployee has engaged in protected activi-
ties. An employee’s engagement in ac-
tivities protected by the Act does not 
automatically render him immune 
from discharge or discipline for legiti-
mate reasons, or from adverse action 
dictated by non-prohibited consider-
ations. See, NLRB v. Dixie Motor Coach 
Corp., 128 F. 2d 201 (5th Cir., 1942). 

(b) At the same time, to establish a 
violation of section 11(c), the employ-
ee’s engagement in protected activity 
need not be the sole consideration be-
hind discharge or other adverse action. 
If protected activity was a substantial 
reason for the action, or if the dis-
charge or other adverse action would 
not have taken place ‘‘but for’’ engage-
ment in protected activity, section 
11(c) has been violated. See, Mitchell v. 
Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 278 F. 2d 562 
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